Effect of the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Drinking Behaviour of Dutch Adolescents with

Different Socioeconomic Backgrounds

Master Thesis

Josephin Maurer (5552615)

MSc Social Policy and Public Health

Faculty of Social and Behavioural Science, Utrecht University

Master Project Social Policy & Public Health

Supervisor: Dom Weinberg

24 June 2022

Word count: 4861

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Effect of the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Drinking Behaviour of Dutch Adolescents with Different Socioeconomic Backgrounds	5
Motives in Adolescents to Engage in Alcohol Use	6
Socioeconomic Position and Health Inequality	7
The Covid-19 Pandemic	8
Hypotheses	10
Method	11
Design	11
Study Sample	11
Data and Measurements	12
Data Analysis	14
Results	15
Descriptive Statistics	15
Binge Drinking and SEP Before and During the Pandemic (H _{1a})	17
Frequency of Drinking and SEP Before and During the Pandemic (H _{1b})	18
Change in Binge Drinking Behaviour and Drinking Frequency in SEP Groups during the Pandemic $(H_{2a} \& H_{2b})$	20
Discussion	21
Strengths and Limitations	23
Conclusion	24
References	25
Appendices	32
Appendix A: Survey Questions Used	32
Appendix B: Syntax	35

Abstract

Background: Alcohol use among adolescents is a global health concern, which is associated with a higher prevalence of alcohol dependence later in life and can affect development. However, different socioeconomic groups seem unequally affected by alcohol consumption, with lower socioeconomic groups experiencing more significant harm from alcohol consumption. With the start of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020, these differences have the potential to be aggravated even further. The current study examined the influence of the Covid-19 pandemic on the drinking behaviour of adolescents in different socioeconomic groups in the Netherlands. Method: Longitudinal survey data from the Youth Got Talent study was used. Participants (N=1650) were 16 years or older and attended vocational schools in the Netherlands. Logistic regression analyses assessed associations between socioeconomic position and drinking behaviour (binge drinking and drinking frequency) before and during the Covid-19 pandemic. ANOVA analyses were performed to assess the change in drinking behaviour for socioeconomic groups before and during the pandemic. Results: Drinking frequency increased for all adolescents in this sample during the pandemic, while binge drinking decreased. However, no significant relations were found between socioeconomic position and drinking behaviour. There was also no significant change in drinking behaviour pre-and during the pandemic between socioeconomic groups. Conclusion: There was no evidence that socioeconomic position influenced adolescents' drinking behaviour pre-or during the pandemic in this sample. Unequal sample sizes for socioeconomic groups may have affected these results. Therefore, future research is needed that uses equal sample sizes to investigate factors that influence alcohol consumption in adolescents, especially during social isolation. This would help improve policies and interventions that target alcohol consumption in adolescents in the Netherlands.

Keywords: adolescents, socioeconomic position, drinking behaviour, Covid-19 pandemic

Effect of the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Drinking Behaviour of Dutch Adolescents with Different Socioeconomic Backgrounds

The WHO considers the harmful use of alcohol as one of the most dangerous risk factors that leads to premature mortality, accounting for over 3 million deaths worldwide (Marten et al., 2018). Most people usually start experimenting with alcohol during adolescence. The early start of alcohol use is also associated with a higher prevalence of alcohol dependence later in life (Spear, 2002). In the Netherlands, this was considered a significant public health concern in the late 20th century, having one of the highest drinking rates among adolescents in Europe and North America (de Looze et al., 2017). While drinking rates have been steadily declining among Dutch adolescents in all age groups at the start of this century, drinking among adolescents, particularly binge drinking (drinking more than five drinks on one occasion (Gmel et al., 2003)), is still a relevant problem in the Netherlands today. In 2017, over 70% of adolescents who had drunk alcohol in the past month reported engaging also in binge drinking (Stevens et al., 2018). Early binge drinking is especially problematic since it can have a detrimental impact on adolescents' psychological and physical health outcomes (Inchley et al., 2018).

On top of that, the harms of alcohol consumption seem to be unequally distributed for different socioeconomic groups, with lower socioeconomic groups experiencing greater harm from alcohol consumption (Katikireddi et al., 2017). This is also demonstrated in the higher alcohol-related mortality and morbidity rate for lower socioeconomic groups (Bellis et al., 2016). These health differences between socioeconomic groups have the potential to be further aggravated by the COVID-19 pandemic leading to lockdowns and social distancing measures.

So far, research has demonstrated that social isolation can have a detrimental impact on the health and well-being of society. However, much is still unknown about its effects, especially long-term social isolation in adolescents (Szwarcwald et al., 2021). Even so, it is crucial to investigate which vulnerable groups were especially engaging in alcohol use during the Covid-19 pandemic. To this day, no research appears to have been done on the effect of adolescents' socioeconomic position on their drinking behaviour during the Covid-19 pandemic in the Netherlands. Hence, this thesis aims to investigate how the drinking behaviour has changed in adolescents due to the Covid-19 pandemic in different socioeconomic groups and if lower socioeconomic groups were more likely to engage in more dangerous drinking behaviours. By drawing on several psychological and sociological theories, this thesis intends to uncover reasons that may have affected the alcohol consumption of adolescents and led to unequal outcomes between different socioeconomic groups. Gaining more knowledge on the possible impact that lockdowns have on the alcohol consumption of adolescents can help policymakers and politicians guide their decision process when new measures are introduced.

Motives in Adolescents to Engage in Alcohol Use

To investigate the drinking behaviour of adolescents and how this could have been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, it is essential to understand why adolescents engage in alcohol use. According to the Motivational Model of Alcohol Use, individuals have underlying motives that influence their drinking behaviour (Cox & Klinger, 1988). The model proposes that the decision to consume alcohol or not depends on the consequences the person perceives of this behaviour. It is based on a combination of emotional and rational processes. Building on the Motivational Model of Alcohol Use, four categories of motives are associated with alcohol use in adolescents: enhancement (drinking to feel more positive emotions); coping (drinking to cope with negative emotions); social (drinking to be more social) and conformity (drinking to belong to a group) (M.L. Cooper, 1994). These four motives are connected to different behavioural patterns of alcohol use. Light drinking and nonproblematic alcohol consumption are associated with social motives. While on the contrary, those that drink to cope with negative emotions show a more problematic drinking behaviour, including heavier drinking and drinking alone (M.L. Cooper, 1994). However, most adolescents drink for social and enhancement reasons, and only a minority drink to cope with negative emotions (Kairouz et al., 2002). Nevertheless, it is crucial to investigate coping models of drinking in adolescents since they are associated with alcoholrelated problems in adulthood and a higher probability of substance abuse (Kuntsche et al., 2005; Stapinski et al., 2016). This would also help to develop prevention programs that can target this issue.

Socioeconomic Position and Health Inequality

Socioeconomic position (SEP) is one of the significant predictors of health outcomes (Mackenbach, 2012). One factor contributing to this effect is a higher engagement in unhealthy behaviours of lower socioeconomic groups (Currie, 2008). This includes a higher smoking prevalence, less physical activity, and unhealthy eating habits compared to higher socioeconomic groups. The health lifestyle theory claims that health behaviours follow social norms, which are embedded in the behaviour of the individual's socioeconomic group (Cockerham, 2005). This means that lifestyle practices are not random behaviours but reflect the characteristics and the available choices of the individual's social class. People make their own decisions, but they are usually in line with the social norms of their social class and other structural variables that apply to them (Cockerham, 2005). Structural variables include "(1) class circumstances; (2) age, gender, and race/ethnicity; (3) collectivities (social networks associated with marriage and kinship, religion, politics, ideology, the workplace, etc.); and (4) living conditions (quality of housing, access to basic utilities, neighborhood facilities, public safety, etc.)" (Cockerham et al.,

2020, p.36). This may partly explain the inequalities in health lifestyles between different socioeconomic groups. On top of that, lower SEP groups often experience higher stress levels due to financial hardship, more difficult living situations, and less social support to buffer stress than higher socioeconomic groups (Santiago et al., 2011; Weyers et al., 2008). Financial stress and lack of social support may lead to heavier drinking and alcohol problems (Peirce et al., 1996).

For adolescents, existing research suggests mixed results for the influence of socioeconomic position on drinking behaviour. A recent study compared adolescent alcohol use and their socioeconomic position in six European countries. They concluded that in most countries, parental SEP of adolescents did not influence their drinking behaviour (Bosque-Prous et al., 2017). However, in the Netherlands, they found a positive association between drinking levels and family affluence. Other studies have found a higher alcohol consumption among adolescents in higher SEP groups than in lower groups (Hanson & Chen, 2007a; Schmengler et al., 2022). However, these studies did not investigate the Covid-19 pandemic as a factor that might impact adolescents' drinking behaviour in different socioeconomic groups. On top of that, most studies only include parental SEP as a measure of adolescents' socioeconomic position and do not consider different drinking behaviours, like binge drinking or the drinking frequency. Hence, it is important to examine different drinking behaviours on the effect of SEP on the alcohol consumption of adolescents.

The Covid-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the WHO declared the spread of the coronavirus a global pandemic (WHO, 2020). Social distancing measures followed this in most countries, including the Netherlands. On March 16, the Dutch government decided to close schools to prevent the further

spread of the virus (Government of the Netherlands, 2020a). Between March 2020 and December 2020, the Dutch government loosened some restrictions; however, on 15.12.2020 decided to go into a strict lockdown with the closing of all non-essential shops and move again to online education in schools (Government of the Netherlands, 2020b). Adolescents could no longer interact in person with their peers in class and fulfil their social support needs. This is supported by literature claiming that the feeling of loneliness has increased in adolescents during the pandemic (K. Cooper et al., 2021). Research also demonstrates that the pandemic has led to many mental health-related issues among adolescents, including increased levels of stress and trouble coping (Szwarcwald et al., 2021). Therefore, adolescents may have turned to alcohol as a coping mechanism to manage negative feelings due to social distancing measures and the outbreak of a global pandemic. Earlier research findings support this by associating loneliness in adolescents with higher substance abuse (Ennett et al., 2006). However, it is important to note that some authors also suggest a decrease in substance use during social isolation because they are often purchased through their peers (Osgood et al., 2014). These conflicting results are most likely due to differences in defining loneliness (Copeland et al., 2018). Hence, it is crucial to understand how the pandemic and the lockdown measures have affected alcohol use in adolescents.

The Covid-19 pandemic may have also had a differential impact depending on SEP. Children from lower socioeconomic backgrounds may have experienced more stress than those with higher socioeconomic backgrounds because of limited living space during lockdowns (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2021; Szwarcwald et al., 2021). In addition, adolescents in lower socioeconomic groups are often affected by their family's economic hardship, aggravated further by the Covid-19 pandemic (Mistry et al., 2009; Palomino et al., 2020). This leads to the assumption that adolescents in lower socioeconomic groups were especially vulnerable to increase their alcohol consumption.

Hypotheses

This paper aims to examine if there was a change in alcohol use among adolescents of different socioeconomic groups during the pandemic since existing research has found mixed results for this connection. So far, studies have not included the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, which may have imposed an even greater burden on people in lower socioeconomic positions.

 H_{1a} : Adolescents in lower socioeconomic positions were pre-pandemic (winter 2019/2020) and during pandemic (winter 2020/2021) more likely to binge drink than adolescents in higher socioeconomic positions.

 H_{1b} : Adolescents in lower socioeconomic positions were pre-pandemic (winter 2019/2020) and during pandemic (winter 2020/2021) more likely to have a higher drinking frequency (drinking more than once a week) compared to adolescents in higher socioeconomic positions.

H_{2a}: The change in binge drinking during the pandemic was greater in adolescents of lower socioeconomic groups than in higher socioeconomic groups.

H_{2b}: The change in drinking frequency during the pandemic was greater in adolescents of lower socioeconomic groups compared to higher socioeconomic groups.

Method

Design

The data used for the analysis is part of the ongoing Youth Got Talent longitudinal study conducted by researchers at Utrecht University. The data collected by the Youth Got Talent study examines adolescents' opinions and behaviour concerning various topics, including alcohol use. On top of that, it explores the SEP-health gradient among adolescents. The study started with wave 1 in autumn 2019, just before the start of the Covid-19 pandemic and is still ongoing. Questions on alcohol consumption were asked in wave 1 and wave 3 (autumn 2020/winter 2021). These factors make this dataset particularly useful for investigating how the pandemic has influenced the alcohol consumption of adolescents and if certain socioeconomic groups were more likely to change their alcohol consumption.

Study Sample

Data for the Youth Got Talent study was collected from three vocational schools (MBO schools) in the Utrecht region that agreed to participate in the study. Within these three schools, 72 classes agreed to participate, adding up to 1,650 students. All participants had to be older than 16 years old. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there were some dropouts during the study in the second and third wave. For the analyses of this study, cases were excluded that showed missing's for one of the relevant study variables in wave 1 and wave 3, which lowered the sample to 313 cases.

All students gave active consent to participate in the study and were informed that their answers would be anonymised. The study first received ethics approval by the Ethics Assessment Committee of the Faculty of Social Sciences at Utrecht University in 2018, updated in 2020. Another ethics approval was submitted to the Ethical Review Board of the Faculty of Social and Behavioural Sciences at Utrecht University for this thesis. It was granted in January 2022 (see Appendix C).

Data and Measurements

Data was anonymously collected by trained researchers that handed out self-report questionnaires to students of the participating classes. The data collection took place during school hours in class. During the first wave, researchers visited each classroom to collect the questionnaires. During wave 2 and 3, education was only taking place online due to the lockdown measures of the pandemic. This meant that researchers did not visit the classrooms in person but participated in "virtual classrooms" online.

Subjective Socioeconomic Position

To capture the perceived socioeconomic position of adolescents, they were asked the following question: "How rich do you think your family is?" Adolescents responded on a fiveitem scale ranging from 1 (*very rich*) to 5 (*not rich at all*). Using the perceived social status may be more fitting to analyse the links between SEP and the health behaviour of adolescents. During adolescence, many young adults develop their own sense of social status. Hence it could be problematic to rely on parental socioeconomic position (Jeon et al., 2013). Given the small sample sizes of the low and high SEP group, the variable's five categories were transformed into High SEP, Middle SEP, and Low SEP. High SEP included the two answer categories *very rich* and *quite rich*. Middle SEP included the answer category *average*. The last category Low SEP summarized the two categories *not so rich* and *not rich at all*.

Drinking Behaviour

The drinking behaviour of the participating adolescents was measured in wave 1 and wave 3. This captures the alcohol consumption of the students just before the Covid-19

pandemic started and one year after, during a strict lockdown. The variable *binge drinking* was measured by the item "In the last four weeks, how often did you have FIVE OR MORE drinks (with alcohol) on one occasion (e.g., at a party or on an evening)?". Participants rated the item on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = never, 2 = one time, 3 = twice, 4 = 3 or 4 times, 5 = 5 or 6 times, 6 = 7 or 8 times, 7 = 9 times or more). To measure the variable *drinking frequency*, students were asked how many days they had drunk alcohol in the past four weeks. Participants had to rate this item on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = no alcohol at all, 2 = 1-2 days, 3 = 3 - 5 days, 4 = 6 - 9 days, 5 = 10 - 19 days, 6 = 20 - 29 days, 7 = 30 days or more).

For hypotheses H_{1a} and H_{1b} , binary variables were created. Previous research has discovered that responders typically accurately report if they have consumed alcohol but lean towards underreporting the amount they have consumed (Farrell et al., 2003). *Binge drinking* was dichotomised into the categories: 0= no binge drinking and 1=binge drinking. The category "no binge drinking" included the category *never* from the original variable. The category "binge drinking" summarised all remaining categories, from *1-time* binge drinking in the past four weeks to *9 or more times*.

For *drinking frequency*, the following two categories were created: 0= drinking less than once a week and 1= drinking more than once a week. "Drinking less than once a week" included the categories "*no alcohol at all*" to "*3-5 days*" in the past four weeks. The second category, "drinking more than once a week" included the answer categories *Six to nine days* to *30 days or more*.

To test H_{2a} and H_{2b} , two new variables were computed for both drinking outcomes that captured their change from wave 1 to wave 3. For binge drinking, the variable *ChangeBDW3W1* was created by subtracting the original variables *binge drinking* in W1 from *binge drinking* in W3. For drinking frequency, the variable *ChangeDFW3W1* was created by subtracting the original variables *drinking frequency* in wave 1 from *drinking frequency* in wave 3.

Confounding Variables

The following confounding variables were included since they most likely have an effect on alcohol consumption among adolescents in the Netherlands. These include *sex, age,* and *migration background*. To measure *sex*, adolescents were asked if they were a boy or a girl. Then this was coded as 0 (girl) and 1 (boy). Adolescents were asked for their own country of birth and that of their parents to determine if they had a migration background. In line with other research on migration status, those that reported that they or one of their parents was born abroad were considered to have a migration background (Pieh et al., 2022). This led to the creation of the following categories: 0 = Dutch background, 1 = Western background (non-Dutch) and 2 = Non-Western background.

Data Analysis

The statistical analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 28. First descriptive statistics and correlations tables were created for all study variables in wave 1 and wave 3. The hypotheses H_{1a} and H_{1b} were tested by computing two binominal logistic regressions for each wave. For H_{1a} , the dependent variable *binge drinking* was used, while the analyses of H_{1b} used the variable *drinking frequency* to compare the drinking behaviour in different socioeconomic groups in W1 and W3. To test if the change in the binge drinking behaviour (H_{2a}) and drinking frequency (H_{2b}) from wave 1 to wave 3 was greater for lower SEP adolescents than for higher SEP adolescents, a one-way ANOVA was conducted for each hypothesis using the newly computed variables "*ChangeBDW3W1*" and "*ChangeDFW3W1*". Data was not normally distributed for each group, as assessed by the Shapiro-Wilk test (p > .05). Hence, bootstrapping was turned on when running the ANOVA analyses.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics and correlations for the Youth Got Talent study variables for wave 1 and wave 3. The mean age in wave 1 was 17.45 years (SD_{T1} = 1.4). Of all participants, 44% were classified as male. The percentages of students in each SEP group were unequally distributed. 65% of students reported their subjective SEP as "middle", while only 9% reported a low SEP and 26% a high SEP.

In wave 1 18.2% of all students reported that they had drunk at least once a week (more than 6 days in the past four weeks). In wave 3 this drinking frequency increased slightly to 20.4%. Binge drinking behaviour (drinking more than five drinks on one occasion) decreased from wave 1 to wave 3 ($66.8\%_{T1}$ to $58.5\%_{T3}$), meaning that fewer students reported binge drinking on at least one occasion in the past four weeks. *Drinking frequency* and *sex* had a significant positive association in wave 1 (r_{T1} =0.23) but not in wave 3 (r_{T3} =0.03), meaning that males drank more than females in wave 1, but not in wave 3. For *drinking frequency* there was in both waves a significant negative association for *middle SEP* (r_{T1} = - 0.13; r_{T3} = -0.13) and a significant positive association for *high SEP* (r_{T1} =0.18; r_{T3} =0.16). For *binge drinking* in wave 1 there was a significant positive association for *Dutch background* (r_{T1} =0.25) and significant negative associations for *Western background* (r_{T1} = - 0.15), *Not-Western background* (r_{T1} = - 0.19) and *low SEP* (r_{T1} = - 0.17). In wave 3 there were only significant negative associations for *age* (r_{T3} = - 0.16) and *Western background* (r_{T3} = - 0.13).

Table 1

Variable	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.
	Age	Sex ^a	Dutch	Western	Not Western	Low SEP	Middle SEP	High SEP	DF W1⁵	DF W3 ^b	BD W1 ^c	BD W3 ^c
1. Age	-											
2. Sex ^a	.09	-										
Migration	Backgrour	nd										
3. Dutch	20**	05	-									
4.Western	.16**	.08	-									
5. Not Western	.12*	01	-									
Subjective	Socioecone	omic Positio	on									
6. Low SEP	.31**	.05	25**	.06	.27**	-						
7. Middle SEP	12*	18**	.03	02	02	-						
8. High SEP	08	.17**	.13*	02	16**	-						
Drinking l	Frequency											
9. DF W1 ^b	.01	.23**	.17	01	09	07	13*	.18**	-			
10. DF W3 ^b	05	.03	.09	02	10	03	13*	.16**	.32**	-		
Binge Drin	nking											
11. BD W1 ^c	04	01	.25**	15**	19**	17**	.04	.07	.32**	.22**	-	
12. BD W3°	16**	01	.08	13*	.02	11	02	.09	.26**	.28**	.30**	-
Mean /% SD	17.4 _M 1.4 _{SD}	44.3%	87.5%	5.8%	6.7%	9.3%	65.2%	25.6%	18.2%	20.4%	66.8%	58.5%

• ,• n

Note. BD = Binge Drinking, DF = Drinking Frequency ^a Reference category: girl ^b Reference category: drinking less than once a week ^c Reference category: no binge drinking in the past 4 weeks *p<.05 **p<.01

Binge Drinking and SEP Before and During the Pandemic (H_{1a})

Table 2 shows the results of the binary regressions for wave 1 and wave 3 to identify the effect of socioeconomic position on the likelihood that the participating adolescents were binge drinking before and during the pandemic, controlling for *age, sex*, and *migration background*. For both waves the regression models were significant $X^2(6)$ W1= 23.01, p<.001 and $X^2(6)$ W3= 15.15, p = 0.02. They correctly classified 70.9% of all cases in wave 1 and 62.6% in wave 3. Based on this model, the explained variation in the dependent variable was 9.8% (Nagelkerke R^2) in wave 1 and dropped to 6.4% (Nagelkerke R^2) in wave 3. In wave 1 only *migration background* added significantly to the model prediction: students with a Western and Non-Western background were significantly less likely to engage in binge drinking than Dutch students. Although there was no overall effect for socioeconomic position, the low socioeconomic group was 0.39 times less likely to binge drink compared to the middle socioeconomic group. In wave 3 the overall effect for socioeconomic position was not significantly to the model SEP groups. In wave 3 only age added significantly to the model prediction. Older adolescents were less likely to binge drink.

Table 2

Variable		В	<i>S</i> .	Е.	Wa	ıld	S	ig.	E	xp (B)
	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3
Constant	55	3.66	1.66	1.61	.11	5.16	.74	.02	.58	38.75
Age	0.09	19	.10	.09	.80	4.27	.37	.04	1.09	.83
Sex ^a	-0.01	.02	.26	.24	.00	.01	.97	.94	.99	1.02
Migration Backgr	ound									
Migration Background ^b					13.13	4.08	.00	.13		
Migration = Western	-1.36	90	.53	.53	6.98	2.86	.01	0.9	.26	.41
Migration = Non-Western	-1.37	.49	.51	.51	7.38	.96	.01	.33	.25	1.64
Subjective SEP										
Subjective SEP ^c					4.89	3.47	.09	.18		
Subjective SEP = Low	94	50	.45	.45	4.37	1.23	.04	.26	.39	.61
Subjective SEP = High	.12	.37	.30	.29	.15	1.72	.70	.19	1.12	1.45

Logistic Regression for Binge Drinking in Wave 1 and Wave 3

^a Reference category: girl

^b Reference category: Dutch nationality

^c Reference category: Middle socioeconomic position

Frequency of Drinking and SEP Before and During the Pandemic (H_{1b})

The association between frequency of drinking and socioeconomic position before and during the pandemic (H_{1b}) was tested with two binary regressions, controlling for *age*, *sex*, and *migration background* (Table 3). For wave 1 the model was significant $X^2(6)$ W1 = 25.39, p<.001 but it was not in wave 3 $X^2(6)$ W3 = 11.18, p=0.08. The model correctly classified 81.8% of all cases in wave 1 and 79.6% in wave 3. The explained variance for *drinking frequency* in wave 1 was 12.7% (Nagelkerke R^2) and dropped to 5.5% (Nagelkerke R^2) in wave 3. Table 3 demonstrates that in wave 1 only the predictor variables *sex* added significantly to the model.

Males were three times more likely than females to drink more than once a week. There was no overall effect for socioeconomic position, but the high socioeconomic group was 1.95 times more likely to drink more than once a week than the middle socioeconomic group. In wave 3 none of the predictor variables added significantly to the model prediction. For socioeconomic position, there was also no overall effect, but the odds of drinking frequently were 2.12 times greater for the high socioeconomic group as opposed to the middle socioeconomic group.

Table 3

Variable	×	B	F	<i>S.E</i> .	V	Vald	Sig	g.	Exp	o (B)
	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3	W1	W3
Constant	-3.25	28	2.14	2.08	2.31	.02	.13	.89	.04	.76
Age	.06	07	.12	.12	.23	.37	.63	.54	1.06	.93
Sex ^a	1.14	.02	.32	.29	12.64	.00	<.001	.95	3.13	1.02
Migration										
Migration Background ^b					1.61	2.30	.45	.32		
Migration = Western	35	26	.68	.67	.26	.16	.61	.69	.71	.77
Migration = Not Western	-1.28	-1.57	1.07	1.06	1.42	2.19	.23	.14	.28	.21
Subjective SEP										
Subjective SEP ^c					5.05	5.83	.08	.05		
Subjective SEP = low	43	.38	.71	.56	.36	.46	.55	.50	.65	1.46
Subjective SEP = high	.67	.75	.33	.31	4.18	5.78	.04	.02	1.95	2.12
Constant	-3.25	28	2.14	2.08	2.31	.02	.13	.89	.04	.76

Logistic Regression for Drinking Frequency in Wave 1 and Wave 3

^a Reference category: girl

^b Reference category: Dutch background

^cReference category: Middle socioeconomic position

Change in Binge Drinking Behaviour and Drinking Frequency in SEP Groups during the Pandemic (H_{2a} & H_{2b})

It was described earlier that the drinking frequency increased from wave 1 to wave 3, while binge drinking decreased. A one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if the change in binge drinking behaviour and drinking frequency between wave 1 and wave 3 differed by socioeconomic group. Table 4 shows that there was no significant difference in binge drinking (F (2, 313) = 1.03, p = 0.360) and drinking frequency (F (2, 313) = 1.53, p = .219) between socioeconomic groups. Although the low and high SEP group were small compared to the middle SEP group, and the results were insignificant, these two groups increased their drinking behaviour (binge drinking and drinking frequency) while the middle SEP group engaged less in these behaviours.

Table 4

Socioeconomic Groups During the Pandemic										
Measure		n	1	М	S	D	P)		
	BD	DF	BD	DF	BD	DF	BD	DF		
Low SEP	29	29	.38	.21	1.52	1.26				
Middle SEP	204	204	10	04	1.78	1.26				
High SEP	80	80	.05	.23	.05	1.22				
Difference between groups							.360	.219		

One-Way ANOVA Analysis of Variance in Binge Drinking and Drinking Frequency for Different Socioeconomic Groups During the Pandemic

Note. BD= Binge Drinking, DF= Drinking Frequency

Discussion

The current study evaluated how the drinking behaviour (drinking frequency and binge drinking) has changed in adolescents in the Netherlands during the Covid-19 pandemic and if lower socioeconomic groups were more likely to increase their drinking. Firstly, the overall drinking frequency (drinking more than once a week) increased very slightly from 18.2% in wave 1 (pre-pandemic) to 20.4% in wave 3 (during pandemic) for all participating students. In contrast, fewer students reported binge drinking in wave 3 (58.5%) compared to wave 1 (66.8%). For all analyses, adolescents' subjective SEP was overall not a significant predictor of their drinking behaviour pre and during the Covid-19 pandemic. Secondly, the low SEP group did not engage in a greater drinking behaviour than adolescents in the high socioeconomic group. In contrast, the high SEP group indicated the highest drinking frequency and binge drinking behaviour compared to the other two SEP groups pre-and during the pandemic. These findings reject hypotheses H_{1a} and H_{2b}, which suggested a higher alcohol consumption for the low SEP group than the high SEP group pre-and during the pandemic. Thirdly, the results indicated that the change in the two drinking behaviours was most pronounced for the low and high SEP group, in contrast to the middle group. However, these differences between groups were insignificant, rejecting hypotheses H_{2a} and H_{2b}, which suggested the biggest change in drinking behaviour for the low SEP group compared to the other socioeconomic groups.

This study did not find evidence that adolescents' socioeconomic position influenced their drinking behaviour pre-and during the Covid-19 pandemic in the Netherlands. It could be that SEP in adolescents does not affect their alcohol consumption the same as in adults. Existing research presents mixed results for the association between adolescents' SEP and drinking behaviour. While some scholars find a connection between drinking and SEP, others suggest that socioeconomic position in adolescents may influence some health behaviours, like smoking and eating habits, but not their alcohol consumption (Bosque-Prous et al., 2017; Hanson & Chen, 2007b). During adolescence, individuals try to be independent of their families and form their own identity, often influenced by their peers (Meeus et al., 2005). Therefore, peer influence and other factors may significantly impact adolescents' binge drinking and drinking frequency more than their socioeconomic position. Furthermore, each study uses different measures for alcohol consumption and SEP which may lead to different results. Future research is needed to explore further aspects of adolescents' alcohol consumption, especially during the Covid-19 pandemic. Different measures of SEP should be considered as well as other factors that may have a greater impact on adolescents, like their peers.

Even though no overall effect on the socioeconomic position of adolescents was found, there was some tentative evidence that the high SEP group showed the highest drinking frequency and binge drinking behaviour pre-and during the pandemic. This is in line with other research, which also found higher alcohol consumption in high SEP adolescents (Hanson & Chen, 2007a; Schmengler et al., 2022). Adolescents with a high socioeconomic background often have more financial resources to afford alcohol which may explain a greater engagement in alcohol consumption (Hanson & Chen, 2007a). It is possible that this relationship between SEP and alcohol use did not change during the pandemic since the economic hardship of lower socioeconomic groups was further aggravated by the pandemic (Palomino et al., 2020).

Interestingly, the results of this study also indicate that the overall drinking behaviour of adolescents in the Netherlands did not change much during the pandemic. Drinking frequency increased slightly while binge drinking slightly decreased. It was demonstrated earlier that most adolescents drink in social contexts (Kairouz et al., 2002). Therefore, one would suspect a

general decrease in alcohol consumption during the pandemic, where adolescents only had restricted contact with their peers. The results of this study imply either that the influence of peer contact declined during the pandemic or that adolescents may have still been in contact with their peers, either by face-to-face interaction or online. Another possible explanation may be that more adolescents drank to cope with their negative emotions, like loneliness, during lockdowns. So far, scholars have suggested that long-term social isolation may lead to a higher stress response, leading to increased alcohol consumption to cope with the stress (Clay & Parker, 2020; Toscano & Zappalà, 2020). However, future research with longitudinal data is needed to investigate these connections in adolescents during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Strengths and Limitations

An important strength of this study is the use of longitudinal data. The data collection of the Youth Got Talent study started just before the Covid-19 pandemic and continued during the pandemic. Another strength is the use of different measures for alcohol consumption, capturing multiple layers of the drinking behaviour of adolescents in the Netherlands.

However, this study also has several limitations. Sample sizes were found to be unequally distributed for the socioeconomic groups, with only 29 students in the lowest SEP group. This may have affected the reliability and statistical power of the analyses. Results may also be not generalisable to the broader population. Future research should consider recruiting equal sample sizes and use various measures for adolescents' socioeconomic situation. This study only used adolescents' subjective SEP. Considering only one measure of socioeconomic position might not grasp the full complexity of the adolescent's socioeconomic situation and may also affect sample sizes (Fakkel et al., 2020). On top of that, different measures of socioeconomic position may be associated with different health outcomes in adolescents (Quon & McGrath, 2014). Therefore,

future research should make use of several measures of socioeconomic position in their analyses, such as parental education, parental income, and neighbourhood influence.

Moreover, it should be noted that all participants in this study sample followed the vocational education track in the Netherlands. These students are striving toward completing their school education. Therefore, they may not drink as frequently and binge drink as often as other adolescents in the Netherlands. Future research should consider including adolescents from different educational tracks to better understand the general alcohol consumption of adolescents in the Netherlands.

Conclusion

To conclude, this study's results illustrate that the drinking behaviour of adolescents before and during the Covid-19 pandemic did not depend on their subjective socioeconomic position. It may be that other factors are more influential on adolescents drinking behaviour than their socioeconomic position, like peer influence. Therefore, future research on adolescents drinking behaviour should investigate additional factors that may affect their drinking to pursue a better understanding of adolescents' alcohol consumption. Future research should also consider using several measures for socioeconomic status since subjective socioeconomic position may only capture one dimension of adolescents' socioeconomic background. Finding factors that influence adolescents' drinking behaviour could prove helpful for future policies and interventions that plan to reduce the alcohol consumption of adolescents.

References

- Bellis, M. A., Hughes, K., Nicholls, J., Sheron, N., Gilmore, I., & Jones, L. (2016). The alcohol harm paradox: Using a national survey to explore how alcohol may disproportionately impact health in deprived individuals. *BMC Public Health*, *16*, 111. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2766-x
- Bosque-Prous, M., Kuipers, M. A. G., Espelt, A., Richter, M., Rimpelä, A., Perelman, J.,
 Federico, B., Brugal, M. T., Lorant, V., & Kunst, A. E. (2017). Adolescent alcohol use and parental and adolescent socioeconomic position in six European cities. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 646. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4635-7
- Clay, J. M., & Parker, M. O. (2020). Alcohol use and misuse during the COVID-19 pandemic: A potential public health crisis? *The Lancet. Public Health*, 5(5), 259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30088-8
- Cockerham, W. C. (2005). Health lifestyle theory and the convergence of agency and structure. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 46(1), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.1177/002214650504600105
- Cockerham, W. C., D. Wolfe, J., & Bauldry, S. (2020). Health lifestyles in late middle age. *Research on Aging*, 42(1), 34–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027519884760
- Cooper, K., Hards, E., Moltrecht, B., Reynolds, S., Shum, A., McElroy, E., & Loades, M. (2021). Loneliness, social relationships, and mental health in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 289, 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.04.016
- Cooper, M. L. (1994). Motivations for alcohol use among adolescents: Development and validation of a four-factor model. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(2), 117.

- Copeland, M., Fisher, J. C., Moody, J., & Feinberg, M. E. (2018). Different kinds of lonely: Dimensions of isolation and substance use in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(8), 1755–1770. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0860-3
- Cox, W. M., & Klinger, E. (1988). A motivational model of alcohol use. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 97(2), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843x.97.2.168
- Currie, C., (Ed.). (2008). Inequalities in young people's health: HBSC international report from the 2005/2006 survey. *Health Policy for Children and Adolescents 5*. Copenhagen: WHO.
- de Looze, M. E., van Dorsselaer, S. A. F. M., Monshouwer, K., & Vollebergh, W. A. M. (2017). Trends in adolescent alcohol use in the Netherlands, 1992–2015: Differences across sociodemographic groups and links with strict parental rule-setting. *International Journal* of Drug Policy, 50, 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.09.013
- Ennett, S. T., Bauman, K. E., Hussong, A., Faris, R., Foshee, V. A., Cai, L., & DuRant, R. H. (2006). The peer context of adolescent substance use: Findings from social network analysis. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *16*(2), 159–186. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00127.x
- Farrell, S., Manning W.G., und Finch M. D. (2003). Alcohol dependence and the price of alcoholic beverages. *Journal of Health Economics* 22(1), 117–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-6296(02)00099-1.
- Gmel, G., Rehm, J., & Kuntsche, E. (2003). Binge drinking in Europe: Definitions, epidemiology, and consequences. *Sucht*, *49*(2), 105–116.
- Government of the Netherlands. (15.03.2020a). *Temporary closure of schools and childcare centres in strategy to fight coronavirus* [Press release].

https://www.government.nl/latest/news/2020/03/15/temporary-closure-of-schoolsand-childcare-centres-in-strategy-to-fight-coronavirus

Government of the Netherlands. (14.12.2020b). Lockdown in order to minimise contact between people [Press release].

https://www.government.nl/latest/news/2020/12/14/lockdown-in-order-to-minimisecontact-between-people

- Hanson, M. D., & Chen, E. (2007a). Socioeconomic status and substance use behaviors in adolescents: The role of family resources versus family social status. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 12(1), 32–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105306069073
- Hanson, M. D., & Chen, E. (2007b). Socioeconomic status and health behaviors in adolescence: A review of the literature. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 30(3), 263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-007-9098-3
- Inchley, J., Currie, D., Vieno, A., Torsheim, T., Ferreira-Borges, C., Weber, M. M., Barnekow, V., & Breda, J. (2018). Adolescent alcohol-related behaviours: Trends and inequalities in the WHO European Region, 2002–2014: Observations from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC). *World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe*. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342239
- Jeon, G.-S., Ha, Y., & Choi, E. (2013). Effects of objective and subjective socioeconomic status on self-rated health, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation in adolescents. *Child Indicators Research*, 6(3), 479–492. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-013-9180-z
- Kairouz, S., Gliksman, L., Demers, A., & Adlaf, E. M. (2002). For all these reasons, I do drink:
 A multilevel analysis of contextual reasons for drinking among Canadian undergraduates. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 63(5), 600–608. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2002.63.600

- Katikireddi, S. V., Whitley, E., Lewsey, J., Gray, L., & Leyland, A. H. (2017). Socioeconomic status as an effect modifier of alcohol consumption and harm: Analysis of linked cohort data. *The Lancet Public Health*, 2(6), e267–e276. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30078-6
- Kuntsche, E., Knibbe R., Gmel G., & Engels R. (2005). Why do young people drink? A review of drinking motives. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 25(7), 841–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2005.06.002.
- Mackenbach, J. P. (2012). The persistence of health inequalities in modern welfare states: The explanation of a paradox. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 75(4), 761–769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.02.031
- Marten, R., Kadandale, S., Nordström, A., & Smith, R. D. (2018). Shifting global health governance towards the sustainable development goals. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 96(12), 798-798A. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.18.209668
- Meeus, W., Iedema, J., Maassen, G., & Engels, R. (2005). Separation–individuation revisited:
 On the interplay of parent–adolescent relations, identity and emotional adjustment in adolescence. *Journal of Adolescence*, 28(1), 89–106.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2004.07.003
- Mistry, R. S., Benner, A. D., Tan, C. S., & Kim, S. Y. (2009). Family economic stress and academic well-being among Chinese-American youth: The influence of adolescents' perceptions of economic strain. *Journal of Family Psychology: JFP: Journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43)*, 23(3), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015403

- Osgood, D. W., Feinberg, M. E., Wallace, L. N., & Moody, J. (2014). Friendship group position and substance use. *Addictive Behaviors*, 39(5), 923–933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.12.009
- Palomino, J. C., Rodríguez, J. G., & Sebastian, R. (2020). Wage inequality and poverty effects of lockdown and social distancing in Europe. *European Economic Review*, 129, 103564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2020.103564
- Peirce, R. S., Frone, M. R., Russell, M., & Cooper, M. L. (1996). Financial stress, social support, and alcohol involvement: A longitudinal test of the buffering hypothesis in a general population survey. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 15(1), 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-6133.15.1.38
- Pieh, C., Dale, R., Jesser, A., Probst, T., Plener, P. L., & Humer, E. (2022). The impact of migration status on adolescents' mental health during COVID-19. *Healthcare*, 10(1), 176. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10010176
- Quon, E. C., & McGrath, J. J. (2014). Subjective socioeconomic status and adolescent health: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 33(5), 433–447. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033716
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., Kaman, A., Erhart, M., Devine, J., Schlack, R., & Otto, C. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life and mental health in children and adolescents in Germany. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01726-5
- Santiago, C. D., Wadsworth, M. E., & Stump, J. (2011). Socioeconomic status, neighborhood disadvantage, and poverty-related stress: Prospective effects on psychological syndromes

among diverse low-income families. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, *32*(2), 218–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.10.008

- Schmengler, H., Peeters, M., Kunst, A. E., Oldehinkel, A. J., & Vollebergh, W. A. M. (2022). Educational level and alcohol use in adolescence and early adulthood—The role of social causation and health-related selection—The TRAILS Study. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(1), e0261606. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0261606
- Spear, L. P. (2002). Alcohol's effects on adolescents. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 26(4), 287–291.
- Stapinski, L. A., Edwards, A. C., Hickman, M., Araya, R., Teesson, M., Newton, N. C., Kendler, K. S., & Heron, J. (2016). Drinking to cope: A latent class analysis of coping motives for alcohol use in a large cohort of adolescents. *Prevention Science*, *17*(5), 584–594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-016-0652-5
- Stevens, G. W. J. M., van Dorsselaer, S., Boer, M., de Roos, S., Duinhof, E. L., ter Bogt, T. F.
 M., van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M, Kuyper, L., Visser, D., Vollebergh, W. A. M., & de
 Looze, M. (2018). *HBSC 2017. Gezondheid en welzijn van jongeren in Nederland*[Report]. Utrecht University. http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/376901
- Szwarcwald, C. L., Malta, D. C., Barros, M. B. de A., de Souza Júnior, P. R. B., Romero, D., de Almeida, W. da S., Damacena, G. N., Werneck, A. O., da Silva, D. R. P., Lima, M. G., Gomes, C. S., Azevedo, L. O., Ferreira, A. P. de S., Gracie, R., & de Pina, M. de F. (2021). Associations of sociodemographic factors and health behaviors with the emotional well-being of adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic in Brazil. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(11), 6160. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18116160

- Toscano, F., & Zappalà, S. (2020). Social isolation and stress as predictors of productivity perception and remote work satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of concern about the virus in a moderated double mediation. *Sustainability*, *12*(23), 9804. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12239804
- Weyers, S., Dragano, N., Möbus, S., Beck, E.-M., Stang, A., Möhlenkamp, S., Jöckel, K. H., Erbel, R., & Siegrist, J. (2008). Low socio-economic position is associated with poor social networks and social support: Results from the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 7(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-7-13
- World Health Organization. (11.3.2020). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020. https://www.who.int/directorgeneral/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefingon-covid-19---11-march-2020

Appendices

Appendix A: Survey Questions Used

Link to the whole codebook: https://osf.io/4dhjx/

The following questions from the Youth Got Talent survey were used for this study.

Question measuring subjective SEP

Question	Variable name	label	Value
Hoe rijk denk je dat jouw	famwlth	Heel rijk	1
gezin is?		Best rijk	2
		Gemiddeld	3
		Nied zo rijk	4
		Helemaal niet rijk	5

Questions measuring drinking behavior

Drinking Frequency

Question	Variable name	Label	Value
Op hoeveel dagen heb je	alchlm	Noit	1
alcohol gedronken?		1 of 2 dagen	2
In de laatste 4 weken		3-5 dagen	3
		6-9 dagen	4
		10-19 dagen	5
		20-29 dagen	6
		30 dagen of meer	7

Binge drinking

Variable name	Label	Value
alchlbg	Noit	1
	1 keer	2
	2 keer	3
	3 of 4 keer	4
	5 of 6 keer	5
	7 of 8 keer	6
	9 keer of vaker	7
	Variable name alchlbg	Variable nameLabelalchlbgNoit1 keer2 keer3 of 4 keer5 of 6 keer7 of 8 keer9 keer of vaker

Control Variables

Sex

Question	Variable name	Label	Value
Ben je een jongen of een	Sex	Meisje	0
meisje?		Jongen	1
		Anders ¹⁰	2

¹⁰ the option (Anders = 2) was added in Wave 3.

Migration background

The constructed variable *migc-dwn* was used.

Question	Variable name	Label	Value
In welk land ben jij	Cntrya(_t)	Nederland	1
geboren?	-	Marokko	2
		Turkije	3
		Suriname	4
		Duitsland	5
		Aruba, Bonaire, Curcao, Saba, St	6
		Eustatuis of St Maarten	
		In een ander land	7
In welk land is je	Cntryf (_t)	IDEM	IDEM
vader geboren?	-	Weet ik niet	8
In welk land is je	Cntrym (_t)	IDEM	IDEM
moeder geboren?			
Constructed	Variable name	Label	Value
variables ¹²			
Migration	Migc_dwn	Nederlands	0
background		Overig westers	1
(Dutch, Western,		Niet-westers	2
non-Western)			

¹²For migrc a 3 -step process was applied. (Throughout, 'country' also applies to 'non-Western' and 'Western'.)

• Step 1: If both parents were born in same country, case receives this country.

• Step 2a: If parents were born in different countries, case receives the migration group from the mother.

• Step 2b: But if parents born in different countries, and mother was born in the Netherlands, case receives the migration group from the father.

• Step 3a: If both parent's birthplaces were unknown, case receives their own birthplace.

• Step 3b: If only one parents' birthplace was unknown, case receives migration group from the other parent

Age

Constructed Variable age was used.

Question	Variable	Label	Value
	name		
Wanner ben je geboren? Jaar	birthy		
Wanner ben je geboren? Maand	birthm	Januari - December	1-12

Constructed variables	Variable name	Label	Value
Age	age ⁹		

⁹*age* is given in years and based on completed months. It was constructed using *date* (birth day was not collected, so day 1 of the month was used)

Appendix B: Syntax

This study used data from the Youth Got Talent dataset. SPSS was used to analyze the data.

```
GET FILE='U:\SPSS\YGT MBOsJM 20220222.sav'.
*Exclude cases that have missings for relevant study variables.
COMPUTE filter $=( ~ MISSING(HF01famwlth) & ~ MISSING(SU01alchlm) & ~
MISSING(SU01alchlbg) & ~ MISSING(SU03alchlm) &
    ~ MISSING(SU03alchlbg)).
VARIABLE LABELS filter_$ ' ~ MISSING(HF01famwlth) & ~ MISSING(SU01alchlm) &
~ MISSING(SU01alchlbg) & ~ '+
    'MISSING(SU03alchlm) & ~ MISSING(SU03alchlbg) (FILTER)'.
VALUE LABELS filter $ 0 'Not Selected' 1 'Selected'.
FORMATS filter $ (f1.0).
FILTER BY filter $.
EXECUTE.
*Recoding subjective SEP groups.
Rename variables (HF01famwlth = SubjectiveSEP).
RECODE SubjectiveSEP (SYSMIS=SYSMIS) (3=1) (1=3) (2=3) (4=2) (5=2) INTO
SEPgroups.
Execute.
*Creating binary variables for drinking frequency and binge drinking.
Rename variables (SU01alchlm = drinkingfrequencyW1) (SU01alchlbg =
bingedrinkingW1) (SU03alchlm = drinkingfrequencyW3) (SU03alchlbg =
bingedrinkingW3).
RECODE drinkingfrequencyW1 (SYSMIS=SYSMIS) (1=0) (2=0) (3=0) (4=1) (5=1)
(6=1) (7=1) INTO DDFW1.
EXECUTE.
RECODE drinkingfrequencyW3 (SYSMIS=SYSMIS) (1=0) (2=0) (3=0) (4=1) (5=1)
(6=1) (7=1) INTO DDFW3.
EXECUTE.
RECODE bingedrinkingW1 (SYSMIS=SYSMIS) (1=0) (2=1) (3=1) (4=1) (5=1) (6=1)
(7=1) INTO DBDW1.
EXECUTE.
RECODE bingedrinkingW3 (SYSMIS=SYSMIS) (1=0) (2=1) (3=1) (4=1) (5=1) (6=1)
(7=1) INTO DBDW3.
EXECUTE.
*Dummy variables for Migration background and subjective SEP for descriptive
statistics.
Recode SEPgroups (3=1) (2=0) (1=0) INTO DHighSEP.
Execute.
Recode SEPgroups (2=1) (3=0) (1=0) INTO DLowSEP.
EXECUTE.
Recode SEPgroups (1=1) (2=0) (3=0) INTO DMiddleSEP.
Execute.
Recode BGmigc dwn (0=1) (1=0) (2=0) INTO DDutch.
Execute.
Recode BGmigc dwn (1=1) (0=0)(2=0) INTO DWestern.
Execute.
Recode BGmigc dwn (2=1) (0=0) (1=0) INTO DNotWestern.
Execute.
```

*Computing new variables for Hypothesis 2. COMPUTE ChangeBDW3W1=bingedrinkingW3 - bingedrinkingW1. EXECUTE. COMPUTE ChangeDFW3W1=drinkingfrequencyW3 - drinkingfrequencyW1. EXECUTE. *Descriptive statistics. FREQUENCIES VARIABLES=BGage BGsex DHighSEP DLowSEP DMiddleSEP DWestern DNotWestern DDutch DDFW1 DDFW3 DBDW1 DBDW3 /STATISTICS=MEAN MODE /ORDER=ANALYSIS. CORRELATIONS /VARIABLES=BGage BGsex DDFW1 DDFW3 DBDW1 DBDW3 DHighSEP DMiddleSEP DLowSEP DDutch DWestern DNotWestern /PRINT=TWOTAIL NOSIG FULL /MISSING=PAIRWISE. *Binary regression for H1a. LOGISTIC REGRESSION VARIABLES DBDW1 /METHOD=ENTER BGage BGsex BGmigc dwn SEPgroups /CONTRAST (BGsex)=Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (BGmigc dwn)=Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (SEPgroups)=Indicator(1) /SAVE=PRED /CLASSPLOT /CASEWISE OUTLIER(2). LOGISTIC REGRESSION VARIABLES DBDW3 /METHOD=ENTER BGage BGsex BGmigc dwn SEPgroups /CONTRAST (SEPgroups)=Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (BGsex) = Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (BGmigc dwn)=Indicator(1) /SAVE=PRED /CLASSPLOT /CASEWISE OUTLIER(2) /PRINT=SUMMARY CI(95) /CRITERIA=PIN(0.05) POUT(0.10) ITERATE(20) CUT(0.5). *Binary logistic regression for H2b. LOGISTIC REGRESSION VARIABLES DDFW1 /METHOD=ENTER BGage BGsex BGmigc dwn SEPgroups /CONTRAST (BGsex) = Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (BGmigc_dwn)=Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (SEPgroups)=Indicator(1) /SAVE=PRED /CLASSPLOT /CASEWISE OUTLIER(2) /PRINT=SUMMARY CI(95) /CRITERIA=PIN(0.05) POUT(0.10) ITERATE(20) CUT(0.5).

```
LOGISTIC REGRESSION VARIABLES DDFW3
```

/METHOD=ENTER BGage BGsex BGmigc dwn SEPgroups /CONTRAST (BGsex) = Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (BGmigc_dwn)=Indicator(1) /CONTRAST (SEPgroups)=Indicator(1) /SAVE=PRED /CLASSPLOT /CASEWISE OUTLIER(2) /PRINT=SUMMARY CI(95) /CRITERIA=PIN(0.05) POUT(0.10) ITERATE(20) CUT(0.5). *Oneway ANOVA H2a. BOOTSTRAP /SAMPLING METHOD=SIMPLE /VARIABLES TARGET=ChangeBDW3W1 INPUT=SEPgroups /CRITERIA CILEVEL=95 CITYPE=PERCENTILE NSAMPLES=1000 /MISSING USERMISSING=EXCLUDE. ONEWAY ChangeBDW3W1 BY SEPgroups /ES=OVERALL /STATISTICS DESCRIPTIVES HOMOGENEITY WELCH /MISSING ANALYSIS /CRITERIA=CILEVEL(0.95) /POSTHOC=TUKEY GH ALPHA(0.05). *Oneway ANOVA H2b. BOOTSTRAP /SAMPLING METHOD=SIMPLE /VARIABLES TARGET=ChangeDFW3W1 INPUT=SEPgroups /CRITERIA CILEVEL=95 CITYPE=PERCENTILE NSAMPLES=1000 /MISSING USERMISSING=EXCLUDE. ONEWAY ChangeDFW3W1 BY SEPgroups /ES=OVERALL /STATISTICS DESCRIPTIVES HOMOGENEITY WELCH /MISSING ANALYSIS /CRITERIA=CILEVEL(0.95) /POSTHOC=TUKEY GH ALPHA(0.05).